#### IN THE SUPREME COURT FLORIDA

FILED

AUG 7 1996

STUART LESLIE POMERANZ,

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

States and hydrographed DORT

CASE NO. 82,467

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

On Appeal from the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit of Florida, In and For Martin County [Criminal Division].

RICHARD L. JORANDBY
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
Criminal Justice Building
421 Third Street/6th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(407) 355-7600

RICHARD B. GREENE Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 265446

Counsel for Appellant

# **ORIGINAL**

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The following symbols will be used:

 $^{\text{II}}R^{\text{II}}$  Record on Appeal

"T" Transcript of Proceedings

"SR" Supplemental Record on Appeal

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 18, 1992 Mr. Pomeranz was indicted for first degree murder and robbery with a firearm R1-2. He was convicted of first degree murder and robbery with a firearm on August 10, 1993 R602-603. The jury recommended life by a vote of eight to four R638. The State filed a sentencing memorandum which requested a life sentence on both counts R643-647. The memo stated that there are not "sufficient legal factors to override the jury's recommendation" R643. Mr. Pomeranz was sentenced to death on Count I and to a consecutive life sentence on Count II R665-685.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Officer Paul Reader responded to an A and M Discount Beverage Store in Port Salerno, Florida at about 10:26 p.m. on April 19, 1992 T1211-1212. Seven .32 caliber casings were found T1227. There were two cash registers T1227. One was on the floor, dangling from a power cord T1227-1228. There was a small amount of money on the floor T1246. Five bullets were recovered from the deceased at the autopsy T1267-1268. The cash register on the floor had \$385 in it T1286. The register on the counter had \$632 in it T1287. He had no difficulty opening the drawers T1287.

Officer Paul Laska arrived at the scene at 10:38 p.m. The deceased had seven injuries from five shots T1344-1345. He had \$6,260.00 on him, as well as an expensive watch T1354-1355. Dr.

Charles Diggs, the medical examiner testified that there were six gunshot wounds T1472. The cause of death was multiple gunshot wounds T1488. All the wounds were from the same type of gun T1505. Officer George Pimm stated that he received a call at 10:04 p.m. on April 19, 1992 to respond to A & M Discount Beverage T1750-1751. He saw the deceased laying behind the counter T1754.

James Hannon, formerly of the Martin County Sheriff's Office, responded to the scene on April 19, 1992 T1975. There was a cash register and money on the floor T1981-1982. The clock on the cash register tape did not correspond to the actual time R2125. There is a uniform differential between the register tape time and the actual time T2131. He had a composite drawing distributed based on a description of Carol Hughes, a witness R2145-2147.

Officer Hannon described a series of robberies in April. He discussed a home invasion robbery which took place on April 20, 1992; another which took place on April 27, 1992; a robbery of a Twistee Treat on April 28, 1992; and a robbery at a night depository on May 1, 1992. These all occurred in Martin County, Florida. He also discussed a robbery of a restaurant on May 19, 1992 in Alabama T2205. No one was injured in any of these cases T2217-2218. Mr. Pomeranz has never been convicted in any of these cases, except for the night depository case which was subsequently reduced to grand theft. Officer Hannon stated that he measured Mr. Pomeranz's height and that he is 5'10%". This was different than the 5'6"-5'7" description given by witnesses T2262.

Officer Cucchiara of the Martin County Sheriff's Department was called by Jay Rinser on May 22, 1992, who had previously been an informant for him on narcotics cases T2699-2700. Kinser wanted help

for his girlfriend, who was not complying with her probation T2699-2700. Kinser told him he had information.

Lorenza Pasquale stated that on April 19, 1993 she lived near the store R1393. She went there at 10:00 p.m. with her son T1394. No one was in the store T1396. She stated that when she went in the store a man was coming out who was about 6'2", fat, with no glasses, dark green pants, a black T shirt, and who was about 22-23 years old. She stated that this was not Mr. Pomeranz T1407. She never saw him in the store T1407.

Hector Velasquez, the husbandof Lorenza Pasquale, testified that on April 19, 1992 his wife returned about 10:05-10:10 p.m. and was upset and crying T1453-1459. He said that Mr. Pomeranz had attempted to speak Spanish to him but it made no sense T1458-1461. His only conversations with Mr. Pomeranz were in English T1465.

Sean Bouchard was working as a stockboy at the A & M on April 19,1992 T1861. Mr. Patel told him to put the beer barrel in the cooler T1866. He was in the cooler with the door closed but not locked T1866. He heard three bangs and then heard two more T1866-1868. He heard someone yell one phrase with what sounded like a Spanish accent T1872. He saw a person about 19-22 years old looking in the store at about 8:20 p.m. T1881. This person was not Mr. Pomeranz T1884. He never saw the individual who did the shooting T1885.

Bonnie Johnson testified that she and her husband and her son left about 9:55 p.m. on April 19, 1992 to go to the A & M T1896. They approached and heard three loud noises T1899. They left and heard two more loud noises R1900. She claimed she saw a man in the doorway who appeared to be 5'8" to 5'10", with dark shoulder length hair, and was in his early to mid 20's R1904-1905. He had a slim build T1905.

Ina Thomas testified that she lived diagonally across the street T1932. She made two calls from the pay phone outside the store between 8 and 8:30 p.m. on April 19, 1992 T1942. She saw Mr. Pomeranz there T1945. His hair was "blondish" and down to his collar T1937, She was home later and heard three shots at 9:55 p.m. and then heard two more shots T1947-1949. She saw a brownish vehicle with a tan top in the store area around 8 p.m. and again around 10 p.m. T1952.

Elizabeth Hernandez testified that she went with her children to the store at about 9:30 p.m on April 19, 1992 T2478. She saw a car as she was leaving the store T2480. Mr. Patel was alive when she left T2483. Three men drove up T2510-2511. Two went in the store and the other went to the phone T2511. She identified Lyndon Kinser as the driver of the car and a man who went in the store T2514-2516.

The prosecution's testimony concerning collateral offenses began with Mohatnmad Amarabijad who owns a Sizzler Restaurant in Huntsville, Alabama T1543. He hired Mr. Pomeranz to work in his restaurant on May 14, 1992 T1544. He stated that on May 19, 1992, Mr. Potneranz worked the night shift T1554. Mr. Pomeranz came up with a gun and said "don't move, or I'll shoot" T1560-1561. He then forced him to open the safe T1562. He began struggling for the gun T1563. He eventually got away T1570. Mr. Porneranz got away with \$3,600 T1574. Mr. Pomeranz could have easily killed him and did not T1628-1629. Officer Michael Smith of the Huntsville, Alabama police testified that a .32 caliber pistol was recovered from a dumpster near the Sizzler on May 26, 1992. Joseph Williamson of the FBI testified that the five bullets recovered from the body of Mr. Patel matched this gun T1686.

Roy Wright stated that on April 27, 1992 his home was burglarized by three masked men T2277. He can't identify any of the perpetrators.

Violet Wright also described the burglary of their home on April 27, 1992 T2290. She stated there were three men; one short, one tall, and one with a checkered jacket T2296. No one was shot and she could not identify anyone T2302.

Mark Meachamtestified concerning a robbery at a night depository on May 1, 1992. He claimed that he went to a night depository at First Union Bank after 11 p.m. on May 1, 1992. He claimed Mr. Pomeranz pointed a handgun at him T2307. He took the bank bag with \$1,500 in it. He was not shot T2312-2313.

Anthony Jacksontestifiedthat he has five felony convictions for robberies andburglaries T2546-2547. He is currently in prison T2547. He stated that he met Mr. Pomeranz through his uncle, Lyndon Kinser R2546. Mr. Pomeranz moved in with him in April, 1992 T2547. lived in the area of the store T2547. He claimed that he and Mr. Pomeranz robbed the home of the Nicoles on April 20, 1992 R2551. took the man's wallet T2553. No was injured T2552. He claimed that he and Mr. Pomeranz had committed another home burglary of the Wrights T2556-2557. He and Kinser burglarized a home on May 7, 1992 T2561. Jackson admitted that he had told the police that three people had committed the robbery of the Wright's home T2624-2625. He had lied under oath R2632. The police told him they might be able to get him a deal T2634. He stated the police badgered him to change his story on the number of people in the Wright robbery T2637. He stated that he's capable of perjury and that the police knew he was committing perjury and supported it T2637. He stated that his cousin originally purchased the .32 pistol for Kinser T2638. He had been a cellmate of Darrin Cox T2642.

Lyndon Kinser testified that he pled guilty to first degree murder and armed robbery in this case T2781-2782. He received a life sentence on the murder and a concurrent sentence on the armed robbery T2781-2782. He received concurrent sentences in two other robbery cases and a grand theft case T2792. He's been convicted of between 20 and 25 felonies T2792. He's 29 years old T2783. He claims he's known Mr. Pomeranz since June, 1991 T2784. He stated that he bought a 77 Olds 2 door Cutlass in February, 1992. He stated that in March, 1992 Mr. Pomeranz moved in with his nephew, Anthony Jackson T2789. He illegally bought the .32 caliber handgun from a 14 year old friend of his nephew T2796-2797. He cleaned it up and gave it to Mr. Pomeranz T2797. He claimed that on April 19, 1992 he arrived at Tony Jackson's trailer at about 9:15-9:20 p.m. T2811. He claimed he talked to Mr. Pomeranz in his car for 10-15 minutes T2812. He claimed that Mr. Pomeranz proposed a robbery at the A & M T2812. He agreed and they planned the robbery together T2812-2813. They left at 9:42 p.m. and when they arrived there was a woman and two children standing in the doorway T2815. He claims Mr. Pomeranz had a .32 caliber. He claimed that Mr. Pomeranz went in and came out with a lollipop T 2826. drove away and came back T2826-2827. He claimed Mr. Pomeranz went in and he drove away briefly T2828-2829. He then came back and Mr. Pomeranz dove in the car T2829. As he was driving away he claimed that Mr. Pomeranz admitted firing five shots, killing the man, and taking \$51.00 T2830.

He claimed that Mr. Pomeranz told him that he had robbed a Twistee Treat on April 28, 1992 with a .32 caliber handgun T2840. He claimed that Pomeranz told him he hid the gun T2840-2841. He claimed that Tony Jackson then got the gun, gave it to him and he gave it to

Mr. Pomeranz on April 29, 1992. He stated that he and Mr. Pomeranz robbed a man at a night depository on May 1, 1992 T2850-2851. He stated that Mr. Pomeranz called him from Alabama and admitted robbing a man there T2858. He has filed a motion to mitigate his sentence and a motion for post-conviction relief T2868-2870.

Mr. Kinser claimed that Mr. Pomeranz stated:

He told me that when he walked in the store the second time, that he went over and got another sucker and laid it on a register, that was for him to ring up the sale to get the register open, because like I told you awhile ago, it was computerized. He said when Pete opened the register, he pulled the gun out. He said that Pete tried to grab the gun so he shot him. He said, Pete was falling back, he grabbed a hold of the drawer of the register and pulled it up on top of him. He said he ran around there and grabbed a handful of money and split.

T2872.

Kinser purchased the gun in question through his nephew T2884. He cleaned it and made it operable T2886. He had shot the gun previously T2894-2895. He traded in his car days after this incident T2907-2908. He was spending \$3,000 a week on cocaine T3120.

Kinser pled guilty to first degree murder, three armed burglaries, burglary, and four violations of probation. He could have gotten the death penalty on the first degree murder charge T3137-3138. He could have also gotten consecutive life sentences on the armed robberies instead of the concurrent thirty years he received T3138. He could have received habitual offender sentences on these counts and did not T3139. He committed a burglary and grand theft May 16, 1992 by himself T3140-3141. On May 7, 1992 he committed an armed robbery and armed burglary with his nephew, Tony Jackson T3140-3141.

Darrin Cox claimed he spoke to Mr. Pomeranz in the Martin County Jail T3159. Cox claimed Mr. Pomeranz stated that he began shooting the man when he grabbed the gun T3163-3164. He claimed that Mr.

Pomeranz stated that he robbed a man in Alabama with a .32 T3165-3166. He also claimed that Mr. Pomeranz told him that he and Jay Kinser had robbed a man at a night depository T3168.

Mr. Cox stated that he had been convicted of eleven felonies, including trafficking in cocaine, two counts of grand theft, burglary of a structure, possession of cocaine, leaving the scene of an accident with bodily injury, and three counts of aggravated assault on a law enforcement officer T3175-3176. He received a plea agreement to eleven years after he gave a police statement on this case T3176. He's since moved to mitigate his sentence T3178-3179. He hopes his testimony here will reduce his sentence T3178-3179. The judge deferred ruling on his motion to mitigate until after this trial T3184-3185. His case involved a high speed chase in which he wrecked three police cars and a civilian car T3191-3192. He injured a man T3192. He could have been habitualized and given consecutive sentences on all counts T3193-3196. He's testifying to try to get his sentence reduced T3205-3206.

The defense case began with Officer Becky Bagley who testified that she created a composite based upon the description of Carol Hughes T3297-3298. Officer Reeder testified that he had no difficulty opening both cash registers at the scene T3322. There was money in both cash drawers T3328-3329.

Steven Draketestifiedthathe purchased a 1977 Cutlass (formerly owned by Kinser) on April 26, 1993 T3481. The car had no dashboard clock T3484. He installed car stereos for a living T3478-3479. He could tell that everything on the dashboard was original T3483. (This contradicted Kinser's testimony that he knew the time by looking at the dashboard clock.)

Steven Kinser testified that he is Jay Kinser's nephew and is 15 years old T3590. His uncle asked him to buy a gun T3591. They went to buy a gun from Henry Gerstoff T3592. His uncle gave Gerstoff \$24 and said he would pay him \$30 later, which he never did T3594-3596. This gun was the . 32 caliber Colt in question.

Carol Hughes stated that in April, 1992 she lived in the area of the A & M store T3600. She knew what Stuart Pomeranz looked like T3601. She went to the store about 9:45-9:50 p.m. T3602. She saw three men at the pay phone T3605. She gave a description of one of the men T3608. He was 5'7"-5'8", very dark, had kinky hair, and weighed about 130-140 lbs. T3608. The police made a composite from her description T3610. All three of the men were of Latin descent T3616. The men made her nervous T3606. None of the men were Stuart Pomeranz, Kinser, of Tony Jackson T3617-3618.

Clare Matalon and her husband own Jupiter Motors T3623. She stated that Jay Kinser purchased a 1977 Oldsmobile Cutlass on March 23, 1992 T3624. He was paying \$55 a week T3625. He traded the car in for a 1981 Crown Victoria on April 22, 1992. His payments on this car were \$75 a week T3627. Mr. Kinser had been making the payments on the first car and there was no indication it was going to be repossessed T3631.

Donna Pittman, Stuart Pomeranz's mother, testified that he is not Hispanic and no one spoke Spanish around him growing up T3632-3637.

The prosecution's rebuttal case began with Ed Barnard T3773. He claimed that he wrote a check to World of Sound on April 10, 1992 for a stereo on Kinser's car T3774. He claimed that Kinser traded in the 1977 Cutlass because it had mechanical problems T3780. Elliot Matalon, co-owner of Jupiter Motors testified that when Kinser and Ed

Barnard turned in the 77 Cutlass they claimed they wanted a larger car T3804. Michael Cinicolo testified that he is general manager of World of Sound in Stuart, Florida T3807-3808. He identified an invoice for a car stereo and speakers for April 10, 1992 to Kinser T3812-3813. The prosecution rested T3851. Motions for judgment of acquittal were denied T3869. The jury rendered a guilty verdict on both counts T4101-4102.

The prosecution's case in chief in the penalty phase case, consisted of the testimony of Mark Meacham T4181. He claimed that Mr. Pomeranz had robbed him at a night depository at a bank, which he had previously described. The State rested T4189.

The defense case beganwiththetestimony of Barry Norman, mother of **Kim Norman**, Stuart Pomeranz's girlfriend **T4196-4197**. She had known Stuart for 1% years T4197. He had always been kind, considerate, and respectful to her and her daughter **T4197-4200**. He was caring and thoughtful to both of them T4200.

Janet Mayerbach, Stuart's aunt, has known him since birth T4269. At the time of the offense he was 20 years old T4269. Stuart Pomeranz's father abused and hit his mother during her pregnancy T4270. His father had a drug problem T4271. He abused Stuart verbally and physically T4271. She saw him pulling Stuart around by the hair when he was young T4272. Stuart was often crying and screaming while his father was verbally and physically abusing him T4272. Stuart's mom eventually left his father T4272-4273.

Stuart's mother remarried Lawrence Bardon T4273. He had a good relationship with Stuart for a while T4273-4274. This changed when they had a child as a couple T4274. He began to totally ignore Stuart

T4274. He became emotionally abusive and seemed to enjoy frustrating and upsetting Stuart T4274-4275.

Stuart had always been very good to her as an aunt T4275-4276. He was caring and loving T4276. He never showed any anger or hostility to her or other members of the family T4276. Mr. Pomeranz was also very loving towards his mother T4306. The defense rested T4331.

The prosecution called Dr. Glenn Caddy as a witness. He is an expert in forensic psychology T4336. He examined Mr. Pomeranz on four occasions T4340. He testified that Mr. Pomeranz has an impulse control disorder T4412. It is the adult consequence of hyperactivity as a young child T4412. His impulsiveness makes him like an "11 or 12 year old" emotionally T4415. He also suffers from a "profound attention deficit problem" T4425. These problems stem from a neurological disorder T4425. Dr. Caddy stated that Stuart's problem got worse because he was misdiagnosed and inappropriately treated T4426. He was consistently abandoned or mistreated by his father and stepfather T4426. His father introduced him to drugs T4426. His early I.Q. tests reveal extreme deficits in the ability to focus and concentrate T4434. The jury recommended life by a vote of eight to four T4737.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

- 1. The trial court erred in excluding evidence that the key prosecution witness had committed perjury.
- 2. The trial court improperly restricted the cross-examination of Lyndon Kinser regarding his benefits for work **as** an informant.
- 3. The trial court conducted an inadequate hearing concerning a prosecution discovery violation,

- 4. The trial court erred in excluding evidence concerning Kinser's reputation for truth and veracity.
- 5. The trial court improperly restricted cross-examination of Kinser concerning his criminal record.
- 6. Theprosecutionwas erroneouslyallowedtouse the re-cross-examination of Steven Drake to bolster the key State witnesses.
- 7. The trial court erred in denying a defense request for a subpoena duces tecum for the prison records of Lyndon Kinser.
- 8. The lower court improperly refused to release or conduct an in camera review of the grand jury testimony of prosecution witnesses.
- 9. Evidence was improperly introduced concerning a robbery which was subsequently reduced to grand theft.
- 10. Evidence was improperly admitted concerning a robbery in Alabama which was irrelevant,
- 11. The trial court improperly refused to observe the limits which had been placed on collateral crime evidence by a prior judge.
  - 12. Evidence of irrelevant robberies was improperly admitted.
- 13. An improper special jury instruction was given on circumstantial evidence as proof of premeditation.
- 14. The jury was erroneously instructed on a principal theory of felony murder when there was no evidence to support this theory.
- 15. The trial court erred in denying a motion for judgment of acquittal as to robbery and as to felony-murder when there was no corpus delicti of robbery.
- 16. Mr. Pomeranz was involuntarily absent from pre-trial hearings.
  - 17. Mr. Pomeranz was left unrepresented for a ten day period.

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