# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

# FILED

SID J. WHITE

JAN 6 1997

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

**Chief Deputy Clerk** 

STUART LESLIE POMERANZ,

Appellant,

Case No. 82,467

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINETEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR MARTIN COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CELIA A. TERENZIO ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLA. BAR NO. 0656879 1655 PALM BEACH LAKES BLVD. SUITE 300 WEST PALM BEACH, FL. 33409 (407) 688-7759

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Id. (emphasis added).

Aside from the fact that the evidence proved that appellant owned and used the gun, it was also relevant information regarding the credibility of Kinser:

> heard the Well, you PROSECUTOR: testimony from Detective Hannon in this case, that we know that Mr. Kinser came to the Sheriff's Office, he voluntarily called up out of the blue. They had no leads. They had no idea who had committed the robbery and Kinser reports to the Sheriff's Department, based upon the testimony that you heard in this case, what will be heard in this case, is that Kinser says, "I've been talking to the Defendant up there. He tells me he robbed the Steak House, the Sizzler Steak House, in Hunstville, Alabama.

Hannon gets on the phone. Calls Hunstville, and the Huntsville Alabama Police Department says yeah, a Sizzler Steak House was in fact robbed in this particular case. So, actually, it goes to the importance -- the candor and credibility of Mr. Kinser in this particular case.

Because Kinser is the one they are going to be trying to blame in this case as the codefendant individual in this case. Mr. Kinser had no reason to come forward and give that information. He had no reason coming forward.

I do not believe that the State at that point in the case would have ever been able to charge or convict Mr. Kinser because they had no idea who committed the robbery.

Mr. Kinser says I was the getaway driver. I know who committed the robbery. He's in Alabama. I can tell you where he is and how to find him. It goes to Mr. Kinser's testimony in this matter that in fact he was truthful and reliable in this particular case as to giving that information.

(SR 913-914).

Before Kinser went to the police to confess, the state had no solid leads. In other words there was no case without Kinser's cooperation/confession. Kinser's knowledge about details of the crime, including the Alabama crime, was an integral part of the case/investigation. Kinser was both the state's main witness and Pomeranz's defense. How the police were able to focus in on Pomeranz could not be properly explained without admission of the Alabama robbery. (R 2004, 2015-2016, 2020, 2173). The Alabama robbery helped place the entire episode in proper perspective. Therefore, its admission was proper. <u>See Williamson v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S383) (Fla. Sept. 19, 1996) (upholding admission of

defendant's prior murder conviction to explain suspicious actions of state's key witness who was initially a suspect in the crime).

To the extent that it was error to admit evidence regarding the Alabama robbery, any error must be considered harmless. The jury received a cautionary instruction and Pomeranz cross-examined Mr. Amarabijad extensively regarding the dissimilarities between the murder and appellant's "signature robberies." Moreover, the state was allowed to present appellant's involvement in three other burglaries/robberies without objection. Thus, the evidence of the Alabama robbery was merely cumulative to this unchallenged evidence. See Lawrence v. State, 614 So. 2d 1092, 1095 (Fla. 1993) (finding admission of collateral crime evidence harmless in light of curative instruction, extensive cross-examination, and admission of other unchallenged collateral offenses); Reaves v. State, 639 So. 2d 1, 4(Fla. 1994) (finding admission of unrelated drug offense which culminated in defendant's arrest for murder harmless error); Hartlev v. State, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S391 (Fla. September 10, 1996) (admission of improper evidence harmless where evidence came in through opening statement of defense counsel).

Appellant next argues that Judge Cianca erred in refusing to enforce Judge Shack's limitations on the Alabama robbery evidence. As a result, the state was allowed to characterize the collateral crime as a "robbery," and was allowed to elicit sympathy for the Alabama victim, in direct contravention of Judge Shack's order. Appellant claims that the trial court's "unwillingness" to preclude the state from violating the terms of the prior ruling was due in

large part to the fact that the trial judge had not presided over the motion in limine. Appellant also argues that the court was under the mistaken belief that the evidence was admitted as "similar type fact material."

The record reveals, however, that Judge Cianca was well aware of Judge Shack's order, as he made reference to it immediately prior to Mr. Amarabijad's testimony. (R 1537-1538). Moreover, defense counsel failed to renew his objection to such evidence, but merely requested a cautionary instruction. Finally, and more importantly, the circumstances surrounding admission of the Alabama robbery had changed since Judge Shack's ruling, given defense counsel's affirmative use of appellant's prior collateral crimes. Thus, Judge Shack's order was subject to modification. <u>See Allen v. State</u>, 662 So. 2d 323, 328 (Fla. 1995); <u>cf. Pope v. State</u>, 441 So. 2d 1073, 1076 (Fla. 1983) (finding defendant's failure to object to admissibility of evidence after counsel elicited the "objectionable testimony" precluded review on appeal); <u>Wuornos v.</u> <u>State</u>, 644 So. 2d 1012 (Fla. 1994) (same).

As for the state's characterization of the Alabama crime as a "robbery," the record reveals that <u>defense counsel</u> repeatedly used the words "robbery" and "burglary" to describe numerous collateral offenses committed by appellant. (R 560-977). In fact, during opening statement, <u>defense counsel</u> described the Alabama crime as a robbery. (R 1186-1187). Thus, any unobjected-to reference by the state to the Alabama crime as a "robbery" was not error. (R

3914-3919). <u>See Allen v. State</u>, 662 So. 2d 323, 328 (Fla. 1995); Pope v. State, 441 So. 2d 1073, 1076 (Fla. 1983).

Appellant also complains that the state impermissibly elicited sympathy for the victim. (R 1543, 3914-3915). Again there was no objection to this alleged error. More importantly, it was <u>defense</u> <u>counsel</u> who first referred to Mr. Amarabijad as a victim worthy of sympathy:

> DEFENSE COUNSEL: Now, Mr. Amarabijad when he comes to court and I do feel sorry for him and he is a victim, Mr. Amarabijad, despite hating Mr. Pomeranz will admit that Mr Pomeranz could have killed him but didn't.

(R 1185-1186). Given the lack of objection and appellant's use of Mr. Amarabijad's victim status for his defense, review is precluded. <u>See Allen v. State</u>, 662 So. 2d 323, 328 (Fla. 1995); <u>cf. Parker v. Dugger</u>, 550 So. 2d 459 (Fla. 1989) (finding victim impact claim procedurally barred if not objected to at trial). In any event, the isolated comments were harmless at best. <u>See Bush v. Dugger</u>, 579 So. 2d 725, 727 (Fla. 1991).

Finally, conceding that he failed to object to their admission at trial, appellant claims that the trial court committed fundamental error in allowing the state to introduce evidence of three other collateral burglaries/robberies. However, as noted previously, not only did defense counsel not object to the introduction of this evidence (pretrial or at the time of its admission), he utilized it as a cornerstone of appellant's defense. During voir dire, defense counsel was the first to tell the jury about Appellant's "dozens of convictions for robbery and burglary."

(R 559-974). These crimes were then discussed by defense counsel during opening argument. (R 1176, 1179, 1180). Finally, <u>prior to</u> the state's admission of any evidence regarding the three other robberies, defense counsel elicited evidence about these three crimes during the cross-examination of Detective Reader and Officer Hannon. (R 1316, 2192-2196).

During redirect examination of Officer Hannon, the state sought to discuss further the specific facts of the collateral crimes. (R 2199). Only at that time did defense counsel object. However, the basis for the objection was not the prejudicial nature of the collateral crime evidence. Rather, defense counsel merely wanted the same opportunity to discuss the facts. (R 2200). And, in fact, defense counsel discussed the collateral crimes during cross-examination and recross-examination of various state witnesses. (R 1316, 2617-2618,2258-2267, 2892, 2945). Finally, during closing argument, defense counsel reminded the jury about the comments he made in voir dire regarding the dissimilarities between the murder of Mr. Patel and appellant's prior robberies and burglaries. (R 3944, 3957-3958, 3985-3991). Given appellant's strategy and pervasive use of this evidence at trial, he cannot now on appeal claim fundamental error in the state's use of this evidence. This claim must be denied. See Allen, 662 So. 2d at 328.

# ISSUE XIII

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GIVING A JURY INSTRUCTION ON CIRCUMSTANTIAL EVIDENCE AS IT RELATES TO PREMEDITATION.

Appellant claims that the trial court erred in giving the jury an instruction regarding premeditation which informed the jury that premeditation may be inferred through the manner in which the homicide occurred, and the manner and nature of the wounds. (R 4041). Appellant wanted the court to add an additional instruction relating to circumstantial evidence. The court refused to do so because the case was not based entirely on circumstantial evidence. As noted by the prosecution, there was eyewitness testimony and appellant's statements to others. (R 3692, 3697-3699). The trial court's ruling was proper.

Appellant must establish that the trial court abused its discretion in denying the requested instruction. <u>Branch v. State</u>, 21 Fla. L. Weekly S497 (Fla. Nov. 21, 1996). Since the jury was properly instructed regarding burden of proof and reasonable doubt, there was no need to give any further instruction. <u>Id.</u> Furthermore, since the evidence presented was not entirely circumstantial in nature, there was no need for any additional instruction. <u>Cf. Hawthorne v. State</u>, 470 So. 2d 770 (Fla. 1st DCA 1985). Therefore, this claim should be denied.

## <u>ISSUE XIV</u>

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN GIVING A JURY INSTRUCTION ON PRINCIPALS TO THE CHARGE OF FELONY MURDER WITH THE UNDERLYING FELONY BEING ROBBERY.

Appellant claims that the trial court erred in giving the state's requested principal instruction on the theory of felony murder. The state requested the instruction based on appellant's defense that Kinser was the shooter. The state only sought the instruction as it related to felony murder. (R 3699-3706). Appellant objected on the ground that the theories argued by both sides, as well as the evidence presented, did not even suggest that Pomeranz was a principal, but rather that Kinser committed the murder. (R 3699-3706).

Regardless of the propriety of the trial judge's ruling, appellant is not entitled to have his conviction reversed. The cases relied upon by appellant do not establish reversible error in the instant case. In Lovette v. State, 654 So. 2d 604 (Fla. 2d DCA 1995), and <u>Hair v. State</u>, 428 So. 2d 760, 763 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983), the erroneous instruction on principals created confusion and uncertainty. In <u>Lovette</u>, the confusion was clearly evident since the jury came back with a question on the very issue. 654 So. 2d at 606. No such confusion or uncertainty exists in the instant case.

The trial court's ruling was proper. The state's theory was unquestionably that Pomeranz was the actual killer. The state argued this to the jury in opening arguments, explaining that

Pomeranz was guilty of premeditated murder since he personally shot and killed Mr. Patel. (R 1120-1135). The state's main witness, Jay Kinser, testified that Pomeranz was the actual shooter. (R 2780-2873). At no time did the state argue that Kinser was the actual shooter and that Pomeranz was merely a principal.

In total contradiction to the state's theory, appellant's opening argument centered on the theory that Kinser was the actual shooter and that Pomeranz was home asleep, waiting for Kinser to give him a ride to his girlfriend's home. (R 1165-1200). Appellant even told the jury that Kinser should be in the electric chair. (R 1200).

Closing arguments were consistent with the aforementioned theories. The state argued that Pomeranz was guilty of premeditated murder and that Kinser was guilty as a principal. (R 3893, 3901, 3932, 3936, 4031). Appellant argued that Kinser was the killer, and that he was innocent. (R 3944, 3990).

Given that Pomeranz was portrayed either as the shooter or as a total innocent, and never as a mere principal, any error in giving a principal instruction for the theory of felony murder was harmless error. <u>See Desilien v. State</u>, 595 So. 2d 1046, 1048 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992) (finding instruction on "willful blindness" harmless where evidence showed only actual knowledge or no knowledge, but not willful blindness); <u>Lawson v. State</u>, 522 So. 2d 257 (Fla. 4th DCA 1989) (finding lack of instruction on element of "knowledge" for cocaine possession harmless where defendant's "guilty actions" made lack of knowledge inconceivable). Under the facts of this

case, it is unreasonable to presume that the jury would convict under a theory which lacked evidence to support the charge. <u>Cf</u>. <u>Sochor v. Florida</u>, 504 U.S. \_\_\_, 119 L. Ed. 2d 326, 112 S. Ct. 2114 (1992) (finding it proper to assume that a jury would disregard a theory unsupported by the evidence); <u>Occhicone v. State</u>, 618 So. 2d 730 (Fla. 1993) (same). Therefore, this claim must be denied.

## ISSUE XV

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL AS TO ROBBERY SINCE THERE WAS SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE OF CORPUS DELICTI.

Appellant alleges that the trial court erred in denying his motion for judgment acquittal with respect to the robbery charge since, absent his own statement, the state failed to prove the element of taking. He further argues that the evidence wholly failed to establish the commission of a robbery. As will be demonstrated below, the state proved not only the corpus delicti, but the elements of robbery as well.

In <u>State v. Allen</u>, 335 So. 2d 823, 825 (Fla. 1976), this Court explained the policy reason behind the corpus delicti rule: "The judicial quest for the truth requires that no person be convicted out of derangement, mistake or official fabrication." In proving the corpus delicti of a crime, the state may rely upon circumstantial evidence. <u>Sochor v. State</u>, 619 So. 2d 285, 289 (Fla. 1993). Furthermore, the state is not required to prove same beyond a reasonable doubt. <u>Id.</u> All that is required is substantial proof. The proof need not be uncontradicted or overwhelming. <u>Burks v. State</u>, 613 So. 2d 441, 443 (Fla. 1993).

Contrary to appellant's assertion otherwise, his confession was not the only evidence relied upon in establishing the robbery offense. Kinser testified that he observed the following actions by Pomeranz:

> When he got in the car, he had the gun in one hand and a handful of money. As he was

loading the gun he put the money on the floorboard between his feet. After he got done playing with the gun, he was laughing and joking, you know, I didn't take him serious. He told me he killed somebody, but here he's laughing and kidding around about it. <u>He had</u> the money, counting it out and he makes the remark, "God damn, I can't believe I killed somebody over fifty-one bucks. <u>He had a</u> handful of ones, couple of fives and a ten dollar bill.

(R 2830-2831). Kinser's observations of Pomeranz counting and straightening the money immediately after running from Mr. Patel's store with a gun are sufficient evidence to establish the corpus delicti of the crime. The facts are sufficient to remove the danger of Pomeranz being "convicted out of derangement, mistake or official fabrication." <u>Cf. Burks v. State</u>, 613 So. 2d 441, 443 (Fla. 1993); <u>Sochor v. State</u>, 619 So. 2d 285, 289 (Fla. 1993).

#### ISSUE XVI

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN CONDUCTING TWO PRETRIAL CONFERENCES IN APPELLANT'S ABSENCE.

Relying on Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.180(a)(3), appellant seeks reversal of his conviction because he was absent from two pretrial conferences. However, this issue is not preserved for appeal since neither defense counsel nor appellant specifically requested his presence or objected to his absence. <u>See Gunsby v. State</u>, 574 So. 2d 1085 (Fla. 1991).

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